NO. 73008-8-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ISAAC ZAMORA,

Appellant.

FILED
February 5, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT AND CROSS-RESPONDENT

NANCY P. COLLINS
Attorney for Appellant/Cross-Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
nancy@washapp.org

A. INTRODUCTION.

Suffering from severe delusions about his chosen role in the world and hearing the voice of God directing him to kill people who were demons, Isaac Zamora killed six people. After these tragic events, the parties negotiated a plea agreement that Mr. Zamora was not guilty by reason of insanity for two counts of aggravated first degree murder and was guilty of the remaining counts. Under this agreement and based on controlling case law and statutes, the court sent Mr. Zamora to Western State Hospital for treatment. If he ever gained enough control over his mental illness that he no longer presented a danger to himself or others, he would be discharged from Western State Hospital and sent to the Department of Corrections (DOC), where he would serve prison sentences of life without the possibility of parole under the statutes in effect at the time of the plea.

Western State Hospital was not pleased with Mr. Zamora's placement in its facility. Almost immediately after his admission, it asked the court to transfer him to prison and the legislature to change the statutes that allowed for this plea agreement. The court refused to approve the transfer to prison, deriding Western State's efforts, but the legislature accommodated Western State by changing several statutes to

enable the State to transfer Mr. Zamora into DOC's custody. Based on these revised statutes, the court agreed the State could transfer Mr. Zamora to prison, but it ruled that Mr. Zamora's mental health problems required vigilant attention by prison officials and conditioned this transfer on specific treatment requirements while in DOC's custody.

The statutory changes diluting the legal threshold for Mr. Zamora's commitment at a treatment facility negate the premise of his negotiated plea and cannot fairly be applied to Mr. Zamora without violating due process and constitutional prohibitions on bills of attainder and ex post facto laws. If the revised statutes apply to Mr. Zamora and are not impermissibly vague, the State failed to meet its burden that Mr. Zamora is appropriately managed in a prison.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. It violates due process to alter the terms of a plea agreement after the plea is entered.
2. The State breached its obligation under the plea agreement.
3. The statutes altering the basis of Mr. Zamora's plea do not apply retroactively.

4. The retroactive application of the statutory changes in RCW ch. 10.77 violate the prohibition against ex post facto laws.

5. RCW 10.77.200(3) is unconstitutionally vague.

6. RCW 10.77.200(3) constitutes a bill of attainder, which is prohibited by the state and federal constitutions.

7. The State did not meet its burden of proving Mr. Zamora can be managed within a prison under RCW 10.77. 200.

8. The court erred by finding Mr. Zamora was manageable in prison. CP 9.

9. The court lacked authority to order Mr. Zamora released into prison when it found he was manageable in prison only if it imposed conditions on DOC's control and authority.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. When a person waives his right to trial and pleads guilty, due process and contractual duties require the State to abide by the terms of the negotiated agreement in good faith. The State and Mr. Zamora agreed that in exchange for pleading guilty, he would be sent to a mental hospital until no longer dangerous due to mental illness. When the legislature changed the law at the State's behest, so Mr. Zamora would not be held in the mental hospital until no longer dangerous as

dictated by the agreement, did the State violate due process and undermine the plea?

2. Statutory amendments are presumed to apply prospectively, and may not be applied retroactively unless purely curative or remedial and intended to be retroactive by express statutory language. The legislature substantially lowered the statutory standard for releasing a person from a mental hospital to serve a sentence in prison. This change in the law increases the punitive nature of Mr. Zamora's sentence. When the change in the law was not expressly retroactive, is not merely clarifying or technical, and substantively alters the terms of Mr. Zamora's plea, is it improper to retroactively apply the new law to Mr. Zamora's disposition?

3. A law prescribing punishment violates due process if it lacks standards and invites arbitrary enforcement. RCW 10.77.200(3) directs a judge to remand a criminally insane person to prison if "manageable" within prison without further definition, if the person has been sentenced to prison for a class A felony. Is whether a person may be "manageable" within a prison so vague that it invites arbitrary enforcement, lacks standards, and is incapable of judicial review?

4. In response to Mr. Zamora's plea agreement and disposition, the State changed several laws to undermine the premise of the plea. The court found these laws were written for Mr. Zamora alone, because the State wanted to undermine the agreement that placed him in a mental health hospital. Does the change in the law increasing the time Mr. Zamora will spend in prison constitute a bill of attainder, prohibited by article I, section 9 of the United States Constitution and article I, section 23 of the state constitution?

5. Under the revised RCW 10.77.200(3), the court had authority to transfer Mr. Zamora to DOC if the State proved he was "manageable" in prison. The court ruled that Mr. Zamora was manageable only contingent upon certain on-going requirements of DOC's care and treatment. Did the State fail to prove Mr. Zamora was manageable within DOC when the court ruled that additional requirements were necessary to maintain custody of him in prison?

6. In its cross-appeal, the State claims the court lacked authority to order any conditions for its treatment of any prisoner, including Mr. Zamora. RCW 10.77.200(4) permits the court to order conditional release, and RCW 10.77.200(3) lets the court define when a person would be sufficiently managed by DOC. Did the court exercise its

discretion based on the authority allocated by the legislature in defining when a person is manageable within the state prison?

7. In its cross-appeal, the State also argues that the court lacked any personal jurisdiction over DOC. The attorney general's office represents all state agencies, including DOC and the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS), and it represented the State at the fact-finding hearing at which all but one of the State's witnesses were DOC employees. Did the court have jurisdiction to prohibit Mr. Zamora's transfer to DOC contingent on DOC providing a level of care that the court deemed necessary to safety and security of managing a mentally ill insanity acquittee?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Mr. Zamora and the prosecution entered a negotiated plea agreement based on controlling law that was accepted by the court.

In 2008, Mr. Zamora's mental health spiraled out of control. He believed God chose him to fight demons. 9/9/14RP 155. Overcome by delusions and hallucinations, Mr. Zamora killed six people and injured four others. 11/17/09RP 18-19; 9/9/14RP 156-57.

Rather than proceed to trial on the multiple charges facing Mr. Zamora, including six counts of aggravated first degree murder, the

parties negotiated a plea agreement. CP 374-84. The court found, and the parties jointly agreed, that Mr. Zamora was not guilty by reason of insanity for two counts of aggravated first degree murder and guilty of the remaining counts. 11/17/09RP 26-27; CP 136-37.

The plea agreement explained it is “understood by the parties” that Mr. Zamora “will be sent to Western State Hospital” until “eligible for conditional release.” CP 380. If he met the criteria for release, he would be transferred to DOC to serve the sentence imposed for the convictions. *Id.*

The written agreement said that Mr. Zamora “shall go to Western State Hospital” based on the parties’ “interpretation” of the controlling law from “State v. Sommerville, 111 Wash. 2d 524 (1988) and RCW 10.77.120.” CP 380.

Before entering this plea, Mr. Zamora “relied upon” his attorney’s explanation of the law. CP 269 (declaration of Zamora). He “would not have accepted the plea bargain if [he] had known that the law would be changed” to alter his plea. CP 269.

The court found Mr. Zamora “legally insane” and not responsible for his acts in counts six and seven. 11/17/09RP 27. It ruled

there was a substantial danger unless he was committed and placed him in a state mental hospital for treatment. *Id.* at 27-28.

2. *The court rejected the State's efforts to discharge Mr. Zamora after a 2012 hearing.*

Based on a 2010 change in the governing statute, the State petitioned the court to release Mr. Zamora from Western State Hospital and send him to prison. 6/25/12RP 39-40. At the time Mr. Zamora pled guilty, the governing statutes let a confined person seek release from the court, but did not give this authority to the State. CP 246-47, 268-69.

The State argued that Mr. Zamora did not present a danger to the public, because he was only going to be transferred to prison, and therefore he was not substantially dangerous as required to hold him in a mental health hospital. 6/25/12RP 40.

The court rejected the State's petition after several days of testimony from treatment providers and DSHS staff, and found, "Mr. Zamora has not met any of the seven Hospital criteria for discharge from the Hospital." CP 134. He remains "currently" mentally ill, "a substantial danger to himself and others," and "continues to require

hospital level care,” for recurring threatening and violent behavior that stem from his mental illness. CP 134.

The court also found that the statute governing a person’s eligibility for release “does not permit release of Mr. Zamora from the Hospital merely because he can be placed at the Department of Corrections.” CP 135. The court chastised Western State Hospital for being “unethical, inconsistent, and unprofessional in this particular case.” 3/7/14RP 18.

3. After further amendments of the statutes in RCW ch. 10.77, the court ruled Mr. Zamora could be “managed” by DOC if it complied with conditions governing his care.

The State filed another petition to release Mr. Zamora to prison based on a later statutory amendment lowering the standard for releasing an insanity acquittee from the state hospital to prison. CP 30-33.

During a three-day hearing, treatment providers and evaluators agreed Mr. Zamora remained seriously mentally ill and substantially dangerous. 9/10/14RP 84-85; *see* 9/8/14RP 54, 115. He continued to have homicidal thoughts and believed he had been chosen by God and commanded to combat demons. 9/8/14RP 72, 77, 88. He talked of killing and eating a victim. 9/8/14RP 104. His delusional belief system

remained more resistant to treatment and there is an on-going risk it could increase in intensity even though he was making “slow progress.” 9/9/14RP 48; 9/10/14RP 16.

Based on the newly lowered statutory threshold directing the court to release a person to prison if confined because criminally insane but “manageable” within DOC, the court found Mr. Zamora could be managed in prison, but only contingent upon DOC keeping him in the Special Offender Unit until two psychiatrists recommend changes to his treatment setting. 9/10/14RP 88; CP 9. The court also ordered that one of his current treatment providers remain his primary provider, giving him direct care and he be monitored by a psychiatrist. *Id.* DOC has appealed from these conditions and Mr. Zamora appeals from the court’s order releasing him from the custody and supervision of a mental hospital and into prison.

E. ARGUMENT.

1. By convincing the legislature to change the law after Mr. Zamora pled guilty, for the specific purpose of altering the terms of Mr. Zamora’s plea, the State breached the plea agreement and violated Mr. Zamora’s right to due process of law.

a. The State violates due process when it undermines a negotiated plea agreement.

Mr. Zamora waived his right to be tried for 20 different offenses and entered into a plea agreement. A plea agreement is a contract between the parties, requiring the State to comply with its “contractual duty of good faith.” *State v. MacDonald*, 183 Wn.2d 1, 7, 346 P.3d 748 (2015); *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 262, 92 S.Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I, § 3. The State may not contravene “any of the defendant’s reasonable expectations that arise from the agreement.” *State v. McRae*, 96 Wn.App. 298, 305, 979 P.2d 911 (1999). Because an accused person waives bedrock constitutional rights by pleading guilty, constitutional due process requires the prosecution to adhere to the terms of the plea agreement. *MacDonald*, 183 Wn.2d at 8; *Santobello*, 404 U.S. at 260.

A reviewing court construes a plea agreement based on what the defendant reasonably understood to be the terms of the agreement.

United States v. De la Fuente, 8 F.3d 1333, 1336 (9th Cir. 1993). If there is ambiguity, it is “construed in favor of the defendant,” because the prosecution bears “responsibility for any lack of clarity.” *Id.* at 1338; *United States v. Camarillo-Tello*, 236 F.3d 1024, 2017 (9th Cir. 2001). Whether the State breached its obligation under a plea agreement is objectively reviewed de novo on appeal. *MacDonald*, 183 Wn.2d at 8.

b. Mr. Zamora’s guilty plea mandated plea and waiver of constitutional rights was contingent on successful hospital treatment for his mental illness before he could be sent to prison.

Mr. Zamora’s plea rested on the agreed finding that he was not guilty by reason of insanity for two counts of aggravated first degree murder and would be sent to a state hospital for mental health treatment. A person who is not guilty by reason of insanity must be civilly detained at a certified hospital for treatment if that person is dangerous to himself or others. RCW 10.77.220 (“No person who is criminally insane confined pursuant to this chapter shall be incarcerated in a state correctional institution or facility.”); RCW 10.77.110 (court “shall order” the “hospitalization” of person found not guilty by reason of insanity if substantially dangerous).

Mr. Zamora remains dangerous due to mental illness, without dispute. The State argued to send Mr. Zamora to prison but admitted, “Mr. Zamora is a dangerous person and the State doesn’t dispute that.” 9/10/14RP 64. The court ruled, “[a]ll of the doctors agree that Mr. Zamora suffers from a serious mental illness.” *Id.* at 84. Even in 2014, Mr. Zamora was a level “1” out of seven in his behavioral control, with seven being an indication the person could be eligible for discharge. 9/8/14RP 105-06. Shortly before the 2014 release hearing, Mr. Zamora was threatening others and hearing “demonic voices trying to control me.” *Id.* at 105, 108; 9/9/14RP 45. His symptoms were similar to the 2008 incident and indicated he remained at high risk of acting on his delusional belief system. 9/10/14RP 16.

i. The law in effect at the time Mr. Zamora pled guilty required him to stay at the state’s mental health hospital for treatment.

Under the law in effect at the time Mr. Zamora pled guilty, Mr. Zamora could be released from the hospital’s custody only if he petitioned for release and demonstrated he was safe to be in the community. RCW 10.77.150 (2009); RCW 10.77.200 (2009). The plea agreement provided that once Mr. Zamora gained control over his

mental illness and was no longer dangerous to himself or others, he could be transferred to DOC to serve his sentence. CP 375, 380.

A similar dual disposition arose in *State v. Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d 524, 760 P.2d 932 (1988). Mr. Sommerville was acquitted by reason of insanity for killing his wife but he was found to be insane at the time he committed rape. The court held that RCW 10.77.220 “expressly prohibits” the defendant from serving his prison sentence before receiving treatment from DSHS for his mental illness. *Id.* at 535. A person who has been found “criminally insane” may not be incarcerated at a state correctional facility. RCW 10.77.220.

Because Mr. Sommerville was found not guilty by reason of insanity for one of his two charges, the court ruled that he must “be remanded to the custody of DSHS” for needed psychiatric care “until final discharge” and only “thereafter” could the State send him to DOC to serve his sentence. *Id.* at 536.

Before Mr. Zamora pled guilty, his lawyer unequivocally told him the State was required to place him to DSHS’s custody until “eligible” for final discharge, and at that time he could be sent to prison. CP 247, 380. The plea agreement explicitly stated the parties were relying on *Sommerville* and RCW 10.77.120 as controlling Mr.

Zamora's mandatory placement in DSHS's care. CP 380. The sentencing memorandum similarly explained that based on the agreement,

the Court is required to commit Mr. Zamora to a mental hospital operated by DSHS until such time, if any, the Court determines at a hearing that he is no longer a substantial danger to other persons or that he no longer presents a substantial likelihood of committing felonious acts jeopardizing public safety or security. Mr. Zamora may only be released to the custody of the Department of Corrections by order of the Court following such a hearing.

CP 375.

Mr. Zamora's attorney also told him to initiate final discharge from the DSHS psychiatric hospital, he would have to petition for release and prove he no longer presents a substantial danger to others due to a mental illness under RCW 10.77.200 (2009). CP 247. He relied on this understanding of the law when deciding to enter the plea agreement. CP 268-69.

Mr. Zamora had been evaluated by a well-credentialed forensic psychiatrist who determined that Mr. Zamora was not guilty by reason of insanity at the time of all offenses. CP 224. Mr. Zamora waived his right to pursue a not guilty by reason of insanity verdict for all charges. CP 223-24.

Likewise, the State recognized that if Mr. Zamora went to trial, there was a significant possibility that he could be found not guilty by reason of insanity for all charges. 6/28/12RP 175. The prosecutor told the media “he agreed to the plea deal because he was concerned a jury might acquit Zamora for insanity on all counts - meaning he could one day be freed.”¹

As the judge acknowledged, the State entered into the plea agreement because it was “trying to avoid the possibility” Mr. Zamora would be found not guilty by reason of insanity on all counts. *Id.* The judge explained the prosecution was “trying to ensure by virtue of the plea” that “Mr. Zamora would be locked up for the rest of his life at either a hospital or penitentiary.” *Id.* Absent this plea, if Mr. Zamora was found not guilty of reason of insanity for all counts, he would be eligible for release into the community if he proved that he was not a danger to others or likely to commit crimes if released. RCW 10.77.200 (2009).

¹ Associated Press, “Isaac Zamora pleads guilty in Skagit County shooting rampage,” Seattle Times, Nov. 17, 2009, available at: <http://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/isaac-zamora-pleads-guilty-in-skagit-county-shooting-rampage/>.

The plea agreement benefitted the State by ensuring Mr. Zamora could not be released from the State's custody despite the undisputed role his mental illness played in precipitating the incident. It benefitted Mr. Zamora by ensuring he would receive long-term treatment for his significant mental illness in a certified hospital, and should he gain such substantial control over his mental illness so that he was not a danger to himself or others, he would be able to serve his prison sentence.

Even though the plea agreement did not guarantee a life-long hospital confinement, it guaranteed a certain legal framework would apply and procedural safeguards would protect him from being sent to prison when he remained substantially dangerous to himself or others due to his mental illness. CP 380; 3/7/14RP 16.

ii. The law changed after Mr. Zamora's plea because state agencies did not want to comply with its terms.

In direct response to Mr. Zamora's negotiated plea and sentence, the legislature enacted several new laws to make it far easier for the State to transfer Mr. Zamora to prison.

First, the legislature authorized the secretary of DSHS to transfer a person to prison temporarily, enacting RCW 10.77.091 in 2010. *Laws* 2010, ch. 263, § 2 (S.B. 6610). Second, the legislature

authorized the State to petition for the release of a person who was committed due to criminal insanity, a power it did not have before this 2010 change to RCW 10.77.200 (2010). *Laws* 2010, ch. 263, § 8 (S.B. 6610); CP 247. Third, it reduced the substantive threshold for when a person could be discharged from DSHS and sent to prison. RCW 10.77.200 (2013). *Laws* 2013, ch. 289, § 7 (S.S.H.B. 1114).

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