73008-8

NO. 73008-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

FILED
May 10, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Respondent,

v.

ISAAC ZAMORA,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ROBERT A. ANTANAITIS, WSBA No. 31071 Assistant Attorney General

Washington Attorney General's Office Social and Health Services Division Attorneys for Respondent Department of Social and Health Services

SHO Division, OID No. 91021 PO Box 40124 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565 RobertA1@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Plea Agreement Was Not Breached By the Amendments to RCW 10.77.200 Because the Prosecutor Made No Promises Regarding How Long Mr. Zamora Would Spend in DSHS Custody or How His Release Could Be Obtained

DSHS does not dispute that Mr. Zamora's plea agreement can be enforced. A plea agreement is a contract between the prosecutor and the defendant. State v. Wakefield, 130 Wn.2d 464, 474, 925 P.2d 183 (1996). The defendant exchanges his guilty plea for some bargained-for concession from the State: dropping of charges, a sentencing recommendation, etc. State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 859, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). But because plea agreements are more than simple contracts and concern fundamental rights of the accused, due process considerations require that the prosecutor adhere to the terms of the agreement. State v. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d 828, 839, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997). Whether a breach of

a plea agreement occurred is an issue appellate courts review de novo.

<u>State v. MacDonald</u>, 183 Wn.2d 1, 8, 346 P.3d 748 (2015).

Mr. Zamora contends that the State violated his plea agreement by changing the criteria under which he could be released from DSHS custody. Brief of Zamora at 2-3. He argues that the plea agreement "guaranteed a certain legal framework would apply and procedural safeguards would protect him from being sent to prison when he remained substantially dangerous to himself or others due to his mental illness." *Id.* at 17. He argues that he relied upon the law as it was written at the time, specifically the provision regarding who could petition for release and his understanding that only he could petition for his release, and that he would not have accepted the plea bargain if he had known the law would be changed. *Id.* at 7, 15 (citing CP 269). He concludes that the statutory changes disregarded the parties' understanding and settled expectations under the plea agreement. *Id.* at 20.

The plea agreement clearly shows that the criteria under which Mr. Zamora was to be released from DSHS custody is not part of the bargained-for concessions from the prosecutor. The sentence recommendation portion of the agreement states that Mr. Zamora agreed to plead guilty to 18 of the 20 charges against him in exchange for the State agreeing to not seek the death penalty for the six charges of

aggravated murder or file any further charges or sentence enhancements based on this incident. CP 378-79. It also states that the parties stipulated that Mr. Zamora would enter a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity to two of the aggravated murder charges, that the trial court should find him not guilty by reason of insanity, and that he should be committed to Western State Hospital because he meets the commitment criteria set forth in RCW 10.77.110(1). CP 379. As for the specific recommendations, the plea agreement states that the parties will recommend that the court follow the agreement that Mr. Zamora be found not guilty by reason of insanity as to the two counts, and that concurrent with the entry of judgment and sentence as to the other counts, Mr. Zamora should be committed to Western State Hospital. CP 379-80. The parties also agreed to seek a standard range sentence on the 18 counts Mr. Zamora agreed to plead guilty to. CP 380.

The sentence recommendation in the plea agreement also addresses the legal context for commitment to DSHS and later release to DOC:

It is further understood by the parties, that based on case law the defendant and the State anticipate that the defendant will be sent to Western State Hospital until such time if any he is eligible for a conditional release and at that time he will be transferred to the Department of Corrections for the serving of his sentence in this case. The interpretation of the law that the defendant shall go to Western State Hospital is based on State v. Sommerville, 111 Wash. 2d 524, (1988) and RCW 10.77.120.

It is further understood by the parties, there is no guarantee how long the defendant might remain at Western State Hospital and that the length of time that the defendant remains at Western State Hospital is not a basis to permit the defendant to seek to withdraw the guilty plea or plea of not guilty by reason of insanity or otherwise voiding or collaterally attacking the plea and sentence herein.

CP 380 (emphasis added).

The plea agreement thus makes three things clear. First, the release criteria of RCW 10.77.200 were not incorporated into the agreement as Mr. Zamora now claims. Second, the parties agreed that it was not clear how long Mr. Zamora would spend in DSHS custody. And, third, the length of time spent in DSHS custody could not be used as grounds to withdraw, void, or attack the plea. Moreover, the release criteria in RCW 10.77.200 and limits on who is allowed or not allowed to petition for release from DSHS custody are not part of the additional documents filed with and by the trial court at the same time as the plea agreement, including the Motion for Acquittal and Statement of Defendant (CP 194-205) and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (CP 136-39).

¹ Mr. Zamora cites to the sentencing memorandum filed with the trial court, and its description of the release criteria under RCW 10.77.200 at the time, as proof that it was incorporated into the plea agreement. Brief of Zamora at 15. However, it is what the defendant reasonably understood to be the terms of the plea agreement at the time he pled guilty, and not when he is sentenced, that controls. <u>United States v. De la Fuente</u> (8 F.3d 1333, 1337-38 (1993)). Furthermore, the other documents filed at sentencing,

The citations to Sommerville and RCW 10.77.120 in the plea agreement merely explain the legal basis for why Mr. Zamora needed be detained to the custody of DSHS before the custody of DOC. It does not incorporate the release criteria of a prior version of RCW 10.77.200 into the plea agreement. For example, RCW 10.77.120 describes the legal obligation that DSHS has to care for insanity acquittees, without reference to who can petition for their release or what the criteria for release are. And Sommerville concerned the interpretation of RCW 10.77.220 and held that a person who was found both guilty and NGRI should be placed at DSHS subject to later transfer to DOC. Because RCW 10.77.220 prohibits the incarceration of a person committed under RCW 10.77 in a state correctional institution or facility, a defendant needed to complete his commitment under RCW 10.77 before serving his sentence at DOC. Sommerville, 111 Wn.2d at 534-36. Since Mr. Zamora was first committed to the custody of DSHS and only subsequently committed to the custody of DOC after being released from DSHS custody, nothing about Sommerville has been violated in this case.

Critically, the statements in the plea agreement do not establish a promise by the prosecutor to disregard future changes in the NGRI commitment law or an assurance that the law would not change. Absent a

including the Felony Judgment and Sentence (CP 120-31), and the Order of Commitment (CP 307-08), do not support this contention.

specific promise in the agreement, Mr. Zamora cannot establish that the use of the new release criteria breaches the prior agreement. State v. McRae, 96 Wn. App. 298, 305, 979 P.2d 911 (1999). Nor is Mr. Zamora entitled to rely solely on an expectation that the law would not change. Id., citing State v. Hennings, 129 Wn.2d 512, 528, 919 P.2d 580 (1996) ("a mere expectation based upon an anticipated continuance of the existing law" is not a vested right entitled to due process protection) (quoting Caritas Servs., Inc. v. Department of Social & Health Servs., 123 Wn.2d 391, 414, 869 P.2d 28 (1994)).

Mr. Zamora cites to MacDonald to support his claim that the State cannot induce a plea, and then render the plea meaningless by changing the statutory scheme. Brief of Zamora at 22. First, there is no merit to his claim that the plea is meaningless—Zamora is serving the very sentence to which he agreed and avoided the capital charges. Second, MacDonald makes no assertion that the legislative power to manage DSHS and DOC institutions can be limited by a plea agreement bargained by a prosecutor. The court in MacDonald held only that an investigating officer could not make remarks at sentencing contrary to the plea agreement, finding that the obligation to adhere to the terms of the plea agreement applies not only to the prosecutor, but to those who act as a "substantial arm" of the prosecution. MacDonald, 183 Wn.2d at 14-16. The Legislature is not a

substantial arm of the Skagit County prosecutor, and Mr. Zamora therefore cannot claim that law-making powers are bound by the terms of the plea agreement.

For all these reasons, the changes to RCW 10.77.200 do not violate the terms of the plea agreement.

B. The Amendments to RCW 10.77.200 Do Not Violate the Ex Post Facto and Bill of Attainder Clauses Because They Are Not Retroactive and Have No Punitive Effect on Mr. Zamora

Mr. Zamora next claims that the changes to RCW 10.77.200 violate the ex post facto and bill of attainder clauses of the United States and Washington State Constitutions. He argues that the "state of the law" changed after his criminal case was decided in a way that imposed a more severe punishment on him than was permissible when the crimes were committed and undermined the settled expectations of his plea agreement. Brief of Zamora at 27. Because the changes in the law are civil in nature, apply prospectively, and do not enhance the punishment for the crimes for which he pled guilty, Mr. Zamora's argument fails.

This Court reviews alleged violations of the prohibition of ex post facto laws de novo. State v. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d 459, 469, 474-77, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007). The party disputing the constitutionality of a statute bears the burden of proving that the statute is unconstitutional

beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Enquist</u>, 163 Wn. App. 41, 45, 256 P.3d 1277 (2011).

Both the United States and Washington Constitutions prohibit ex post facto laws. U.S. Const. art. I, § 10; Const. art. I, § 23. "The ex post facto analysis is essentially the same in Washington as under the federal constitution." Enquist at 46. A violation of the prohibition on ex post facto laws occurs when the State imposes punishment for conduct that was not punishable when committed or when it increases the quantum of punishment. In re Pers. Restraint of Flint, 174 Wn.2d 539, 545, 277 P.3d 657 (2012) (quoting In re Pers. Restraint of Hinton, 152 Wn.2d 853, 861, 100 P.3d 801 (2004)). In order to bring a successful ex post facto claim, Mr. Zamora must show that the law he is challenging (1) is operating retroactively, and (2) increases the quantum of punishment from the level he was subject to on the date of the crime. Id. at 545, 554.

Statutes are presumed to apply prospectively, absent contrary legislative intent. <u>In re Estate of Burns</u>, 131 Wn.2d 104, 110, 928 P.2d 1094 (1997). A statute is considered to be retroactive if the "triggering event" for its application happened before the effective date of the statute. <u>Pillatos</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 471. However, a statute is not retroactive merely because it applies to conduct that predated its effective date. <u>Id</u>. Instead, "[a] statute operates prospectively when the

precipitating event for operation of the statute occurs after enactment, even when the precipitating event originated in a situation existing prior to enactment." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Burns</u> at 110).

In this case, the amendments to RCW 10.77.200 operate prospectively. The triggering event for their operation was the filing of the petition for release from DSHS custody, not the entry of Mr. Zamora's underlying commitment order. Since the petition for release was filed after the effective date of the statute, the amendment is not retroactively applied. To argue that it was retroactively applied in his case, Mr. Zamora claims he has a right to have the old law apply to him. Brief of Zamora at 24. However, this claim relies on a mere hope that previous law would be unaltered. *Id.* at 24, 27. A statute does not operate retroactively just because it upsets expectations based on prior law. Flint at 547.

The ex post facto claim also fails because the amendments to RCW 10.77.200 do not increase the quantum of punishment. The salient question is whether the law in question, "imposes punishment for an act that was not punishable when committed or that inflicts a greater punishment than could have been imposed at the time the crime was committed." Enquist at 46; see also State v. Ward, 123 Wn.2d 488, 496, 869 P.2d 1062 (1994). RCW 10.77 "provides for the civil commitment of insanity acquittees." State v. Reid, 144 Wn.2d 621, 627, 30 P.3d 465, 468

(2001). The changes the Legislature made to RCW 10.77.200 are civil in nature, and did not create a punishment for an act that was not punishable at the time it was committed—in 2008, the act of premeditated murder was a crime subject to punishment. RCW 9A.32.030. Nor did the changes to RCW 10.77.200 increase the sentence for first degree murder—it was and still is life in prison. RCW 9A.32.040. Because the statutory changes at issue did not attach new consequences to events completed before their enactment, they did not violate the ex post facto clauses of the state or federal constitution.

Mr. Zamora's bill of attainder argument likewise is without merit. The bill of attainder clause forbids "[I]egislative acts, no matter what their form, that apply either to named individuals or to easily ascertainable members of a group in such a way as to inflict punishment on them without a judicial trial." United States v. Brown, 381 U.S. 437, 448-49 (1965) (quoting United States v. Lovett, 328 U.S. 303, 315-16 (1946)). "[A] legislative act is not a bill of attainder merely because it compels an individual or a defined group to 'bear burdens which the individual or group dislikes' " State v. Manussier, 129 Wn.2d 652, 666, 921 P.2d 473 (1996) (quoting Nixon v. Administrator of General Services, 433 U.S. 425, 470, 97 S. Ct. 2777, 2803, 53 L. Ed. 2d 867 (1977)). Although the changes at issue are legislative acts that apply to a

specifically designated group, Mr. Zamora continues to have the right to a judicial proceeding to determine whether or not he should be released from DSHS custody. Indeed, this is why DSHS petitioned the court in the first place. Since the requite fact-finding to implement the statute is performed by the judiciary and not the Legislature, it is not a bill of attainder. Brown at 448-49. State v. Thorne, 129 Wn.2d 736, 760, 921 P.2d 514 (1996).

In addition, RCW 10.77.200 does not inflict punishment. As mentioned previously, the statute is civil in nature, does not establish the punishment for committing a class A felony, and does not impact the original judicial determination which led to the conviction. Furthermore, the legal ramification of the court's decision under RCW 10.77.200(3) is the same regardless of which group the insanity acquittee belongs to. Whether an insanity acquittee has a pending sentence for a class A felony or not, the result of the hearing held under RCW 10.77.200(3) is either that the insanity acquittee will continue to be detained under RCW 10.77, or the insanity acquittee will be released from DSHS custody. The decision to punish the insanity acquittee was made during the criminal proceeding, not under the authority of RCW 10.77.200. Thus, the fact that release from DSHS custody could lead to the implementation of a previously-ordered criminal sentence may be a collateral consequence of

the hearing, but it is not directly caused by the hearing. Therefore, the application of RCW 10.77.200 in this case does not inflict punishment and does not create a bill of attainder.

C. The Trial Court Correctly Found That RCW 10.77.200 Was Not Impermissibly Vague When It Determined That the Ordinary Definition of "Manageable" Was Capable Of Being Applied to the Phrase "Person's Mental Disease Or Defect Is Manageable Within A State Correctional Institution Or Facility."

One of the amendments to RCW 10.77.200 at issue is this case allows insanity acquittees who will be transferred to a state correctional institution or facility because they will be serving a sentence for a class A felony following their release from DSHS custody to be released if it is shown that the person's mental disease or defect is manageable within a state correctional institution or facility. At trial, Mr. Zamora moved to have the release petition dismissed on basis that the term "manageable" was unconstitutionally vague. The trial court denied the motion.

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